IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

PEOPLE AGAINST TAX REVENUE MISMANAGEMENT, INC., DANNY MCDANIEL, JOEL DALAFAVE, and CHARLES SMITH,

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO. 77,572

COUNTY OF LEON, FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

FILE SID J. WHITE APR 1 1991 CLERK, SUPREME CO By-Deputy Clerk

KENNETH MUSZYNSKI ATTORNEY NO. 277551 1704 W. CALL STREET, B-2 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32304 (904) 224-3366

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

PEOPLE AGAINST TAX REVENUE MISMANAGEMENT, INC., DANNY McDANIEL, JOEL DALAFAVE, and CHARLES SMITH, were the defendants below and are the appellants here. They will be referred to in this brief as the appellants. The COUNTY OF LEON, which was the plaintiff below, will be referred to as Leon County.

References to excerpts from the record below, which appear here in the form of an appendix, are by tab and document page number, as for example (D 17).

The appellants shall be filing a motion for ancillary relief and expect to do so within ten days of the filing of this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The case below commenced with the January 9, 1991 filing in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit of a complaint for validation of a 60 million dollar bond issue for the construction of a new Leon County jail and sheriff's offices. The plaintiff was the County of Leon, Florida. In addition to the standard language naming the State of Florida and the taxpayers, property owners, and citizens, as defendants, the complaint specifically named People Against Tax Revenue Mismanagement, Inc., Danny McDaniel, Joel Dalafave, and Charles Smith as defendants (A; exhibits omitted).

The case was assigned to Judge N. Sanders Sauls, who, on January 10, 1991, signed an order to show cause why the proposed bonds should not be issued (B).

The individually named defendants (the appellants here) were served, and on January 29, 1991, filed their answer to the complaint (C).

On February 1, 1991, Leon County filed a notice and affidavit of publication of the notice to the public (D; composite, with exhibits).

On February 8, 1991, at the hearing on the order to show cause, the appellants filed a motion for disqualification (E; exhibits omitted), a written response to the order to show cause (F), a provisional motion for continuance or stay (G), and a motion

for consolidation of the prior election challenge case with the bond validation (H). All were denied by the court at the outset of the hearing.

The court then heard the testimony of: Gayle Nelson, a Leon County Commissioner; Ion Sancho, the Leon County Supervisor of Elections; Raymond Samuel Hurst, the Leon County Finance Office; John Wilson, Leon County's bond advisor; Catherine A. Sportelli, a Leon County employee; and Charles F. Cuthbertson, an employee of the City of Tallahassee, all as Leon County's witnesses; and Danny McDaniel, as a witness for the appellants. The testimony of Ion Sancho and Charles Cuthbertson has been transcribed (I).

Among the various documents introduced into evidence were exhibits by Leon County (J; Leon County's list of exhibits) and exhibits by the defendants. Copies of the appellants' initial complaint in <u>PATRM</u>, et. al. v. Leon County Canvassing Board, Case No. 89-3673, (K; with attachments) (Leon County exhibits) and of the appellants' exhibits (L; composite) are provided here.

At the end of the February 8 hearing, the trial judge signed Leon County's final judgment in the form as proposed (M). On February 13, the trial judge executed an order denying disqualification and an affidavit of qualification under Section 38.02 (N; composite).

On February 18, the appellants filed a motion for reconsideration and renewed motion for disqualification (0; with exhibits) and an accompanying memorandum of law (P).

On February 18, the appellants filed a petition for writ of prohibition to this court, styled as <u>People Against Tax Revenue</u> <u>Mismanagement, Inc., et. al. v. N. Sanders Sauls, et. al.</u>, Case No. 77,411.

On February 19, counsel for Leon County proposed to the trial judge that he enter an amended order denying disqualification and an amended affidavit (Q; composite). On February 21, the appellants' counsel responded by letter (R). The trial judge had, in the interim, already executed an amended order and affidavit (S).

On February 22 this court denied the appellants' petition for writ of prohibition.

Notice of appeal to this court was timely filed on March 7, 1991.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

(I)

The show cause procedure in this case is defective on two grounds: first, it failed to afford the appellants due process in that the summary nature of show cause bond validation procedures does not allow effective development and presentation of substantial issues of fact; and second, the appellants' efforts to invoke the statutory election contest remedy were, in the unusual circumstances of this case, still timely and the Leon County Canvassing Board should have been joined as the proper party defendant and an election contest established.

(II)

Leon County lacks standing because it has no legitimate interest in the merits of the controversy over the validity of the sales tax election and is not the real party in interest. Only the public has standing to litigate the merits of the validity of the sales tax election.

(III)

Leon County did not provide a constitutionally adequate notice to the public. The notice failed to meet the requirements of due process in that it lacked any reference to the ongoing and live issue of the validity of the sales tax election. The appellants made a sufficient showing in response to the order to show cause. The appellants' claims against the sales tax election are well-supported by documentation, testimony, and a reading of the sales tax ballot language.

(V)

Judge Sauls improperly passed upon the facts of the appellants' motion for disqualification. The motion otherwise presents valid grounds for disqualification due to Judge Sauls' ties to county attorney Pennington and his firm, and Judge Sauls' commercial real estate holdings. Due to their official and administrative interest in the new jail, the judges of the Second Circuit are disqualified from presiding over the validation of bonds for that jail.

(IV)

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

SUBSTANTIAL WHETHER UNRESOLVED ISSUES OF FACT AS TO THE VALIDITY OF THE SEPTEMBER 1989 LEON COUNTY LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX REFERENDUM SHOULD HAVE BEEN DISPOSED OF THROUGH SUMMARY BOND VALIDATION PROCEDURES THROUGH THE ELECTION OR CONTEST MECHANISM WITH THE PARTICIPATION OF THE LEON COUNTY CANVASSING BOARD AS THE PROPER PARTY DEFENDANT.

This extraordinary case arrives before the court as an appeal from a bond validation. But the essence of the controversy is something quite different: a long-running and still-unresolved dispute over the validity of the September 19, 1989, Leon County local option sales tax election, the revenue source on which Leon County proposes to issue bonds for a new jail and sheriff's offices. The show cause procedure in this case fails on two grounds: it did not fairly accomodate the substantial issues of fact at stake, nor did it engage the Leon County Canvassing Board as the party defendant.

It may be--indeed, it ought to be--a source of puzzlement and concern to this court that there was an outstanding question over the validity of the sales tax election when Leon County filed its complaint for the bond validation in January of 1991, more than a year after the election had taken place. Yet Leon County cannot deny that there are serious questions over the validity of the

sales tax election. Otherwise, Leon County cannot justify singling out three private individuals and their civic organization as named defendants in this bond validation. Why was such an unprecedented and extraordinary undertaking necessary?

There is a simple and disturbing reason: Leon County and the courts which have so far had jurisdiction over this controversy have declined to follow the clear terms of Florida's election contest remedy, notwithstanding the appellants' persistent efforts to resort to it. In consequence, there was and is great doubt over the validity of the September 1989 sales tax election. In order to advance its bond issue, Leon County joined the appellants as defendants to the bond validation proceeding so as to acquire against their most dogged critics a judgment upholding a tainted election.

By way of motion for ancillary relief, the appellants will address and seek relief from the irregularities which have made this controversy into a thorough and much-litigated jumble. But the issue here is what procedure should have been followed in the bond validation in order to lay to rest the outstanding doubts over the validity of the sales tax election. Was it proper for Leon County and the trial court to hear and determine the election issues through summary bond validation procedures? Or, as the appellants contend, should the Leon County Canvassing Board have been joined to the bond validation as the indispensable and proper

party defendant and the election issues resolved through ordinary civil procedures and the statutory mechanism of election contests?

The two forms of proceeding--summary bond validations and election contests -- are radically different in nature and designed for different purposes. Bond validations are statutorily authorized to proceed by the summary device of an order to show Sec. 75.05, Fla. Stat. (1989). Although by statute (Sec. cause. 75.07, Fla. Stat. (1989)), a bond validation show cause hearing is not necessarily the trial or final hearing in the matter, that is the common practice. In this case, even before any evidence was heard, the trial judge rejected the appellants' objections and announced at the outset of the hearing that it was to be the trial and final hearing in the matter, notwithstanding the lack of any prior notice or order by the court establishing the show cause hearing on that basis.

In most instances, there is no substantial reason for challenge to summary hearing of objections to a bond validation. The objections to a bond issue which the substantive law on the subject contemplates are almost exclusively in the nature of legal argument over the powers of the governing body to issue the bonds. Extensive disputed issues of material fact are rarely encountered or even cognizeable in bond validations. How are such issues to be treated when they do arise?

The summary nature of show cause procedure does not and cannot fairly accommodate extensive factual issues. Summary treatment of

complex and substantial issues of fact is offensive to due process and invites serious judicial errors and abuses. <u>See, e. g., Martin</u> <u>v. Dugger</u>, 686 F.Supp. 1523 (S.D.Fla. 1988) (Summary disposition by Florida circuit court of mental competency claims by death row inmate held to have violated due process).

There is much about the procedures at the hearing below to criticize: the overbearing declaration of Leon County's counsel that the hearing would be on his terms, begining on Friday and continuing through the weekend if necessary for a decision (E 11); the lack of any notice of trial or final hearing from the court; the trial judge's determination against the appellants' objections and before even hearing any evidence that the show cause hearing was the final hearing on the matter; and the trial judge's ready embrace of Leon County's proposed final judgment at the close of hearing, a judgment which did not and could not properly take account of the evidence at hearing and the appellants' formal written response to the order to show cause (M).

But the most telling error was the use of a summary show cause hearing for disposition of wide-ranging factual issues without affording the appellants the opportunity for discovery and the winnowing-out, issue-defining, burden-shifting pre-trial devices which are rightly and necessarily available to litigants under the rules of civil procedure. As a result, the hearing on the bond validation fell outside the boundaries of due process.

What kind of case were the appellants expected to prepare and present at the show cause hearing? Call every possible witness, elicit all possible testimony, introduce every possible document, and litigate every possible fact and issue available to them? The appellants have acquired and analyzed literally hundreds of pages of internal City of Tallahassee and Leon County documents. Should those documents have all been introduced, explained by testimony, and argued by counsel? Should all of the dozens of individuals whose names appeared in the appellants' election contest complaint and its extensive attachments have been called to attend and testify?

And if the appellants--who were named as defendants by Leon County--had undertaken those extraordinary burdens and had brought everything possible forward at the show cause hearing, would it have produced a trial or a confusing filibuster? The integrity of an election is at issue, but through Leon County's manipulations, the appellants were afforded less due process than would have been available to them in a \$200 security deposit dispute in county court.

Yet there is an even more serious irregularity which underlies the entire proceeding. The summary bond validation procedure compounded Leon County's prior deprivations of the appellants' fundamental voting rights in the sales tax election and their right of access to Florida's election contest remedy.

For Leon County, the purpose of the bond validation was to foreclose in summary fashion any possible future judicial inquiry into the validity of the September 1989 Leon County sales tax election. But the only proper course of action was to have afforded the appellants the election contest remedy which they have so long sought and which would provide the only procedurally correct method for determining the validity of the sales tax election.

Florida's election contest remedy appears at Sec. 102.168, Fla. Stat. (1989). Controlling decisions of this court have established that remedy as very broad in scope with the vital purpose of safeguarding the sanctity of the ballot and the integrity of the election process. <u>Bolden v. Potter</u>, 452 So.2d 564 (Fla. 1984); and <u>Boardman v. Esteva</u>, 323 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1975).

Ordinarily, when an election is held, the result certified, and the statutory time period of ten days passes without a contest to the election being filed, the election may be presumed valid against all but a few limited forms of attack. One exception appears to be that even after the period for an election contest has lapsed, referendum elections remain subject to scrutiny as to certain formal ballot language requirements under provisions of Florida law which are unique to that form of election. <u>See Wadhams v. Board of County Commissioners of Sarasota County</u>, 567 So.2d 414 (Fla. 1990). In addition, the remedy of quo warranto, however it may apply, is not abridged by the provision for election contests. Sec. 102.169, Fla. Stat. (1989). But neither referendum nor

candidate elections may be challenged on the broad grounds available under the election contest statute once its ten days' filing period has expired.

Under the election contest statute, the county canvassing board has an essential role. If the election is a candidate election, then the canvassing board and the opposing candidate or candidates must all be named as party defendants. If a referendum is contested, there are of course no opposing candidates and the canvassing board is, in the terms of the statute, "the proper party defendant." Sec. 102.168, Fla. Stat. (1989).

The canvassing board has the authority to concede an election as fraudulent or otherwise irregular, subject to judicial scrutiny against a bad faith or misinformed concession. <u>State ex rel. Knott</u> <u>v. Crawford</u>, 73 So. 584, 72 Fla. 232 (1916). Notably, the canvassing board is under an obligation to refrain from dilatory tactics. <u>See Barber v. Moody</u>, 229 So.2d 284 (Fla.1st DCA 1970).

Since the membership of the canvassing board is subject to disqualification under the supervision of the chief judge, there is a further guarantee of its neutrality and fairness in most election contests. 102.141, Sec. Fla. Stat. (1989).Under some circumstances, the three public officials whom the statute designates as the members of the canvassing board, the county supervisor of elections, the chairman of the board of county commissioners, and a county judge, can be disqualified and replaced by electors of the county.

In early October of 1989, the appellants timely filed an extensive and detailed contest of the sales tax election. The complaint was expressly stated to be pursuant to Sec. 102.168, Fla. Stat. (1989), the election contest statute. In accord with the terms of that statute, the appellants named the Leon County Canvassing Board as the sole party defendant.

Remarkably, in April of 1990, the Leon County Canvassing Board filed a motion to dismiss on the grounds that it was not the proper party defendant. Even more remarkably, that motion was granted by the trial judge to whom the election contest had been assigned. An appeal from that decision was made to the First DCA. The appeal was denied, as was a petition for writ of prohibition to the First DCA for purposes of judicial disgualification.

Yet, notwithstanding the extensive litigation over the Leon County sales tax election and the passage of more than a years' time, when Leon County filed its bond validation in January of 1991, it could not at all be confident that the sales tax election could survive judicial scrutiny. Since Leon County and the Leon County Canvassing Board had adamantly refused to allow the appellants recourse to the statutory election contest remedy, its ten day limitation period could not be invoked as a time bar against them or other potential challengers. Moreover, despite the extensive litigation over the sales tax election, no judgment had been entered on the merits of the election dispute itself.

Due to the unique posture of the controversy, the grounds which the appellants had raised against the September 1989 sales tax election thus remained open, outstanding, and unresolved more than a year after the votes had been counted and the result certified. Therefore, in its complaint for validation of the bonds, Leon County placed into issue the appellants' grounds of the election contest and named the appellants as defendants. In that form of proceeding, Leon County was armed with an order to show cause and aided by the preclusive effects and summary frame of mind which such orders engender.

Nevertheless, on the appellants' appearance at hearing and their reassertion of their grounds of challenge to the sales tax election, the court should have recognized that complex and substantial issues of fact were before it which could not be disposed of on a summary basis. Moreover, the nature of those issues--a live election dispute--required that the Leon County Canvassing Board be joined to the action as the proper party defendant on those claims. How should the controversy have proceeded if the Canvassing Board had been joined?

Due to lack of standing, a point which the appellants argue separately here as Issue II, Leon County should have been but a bystander in the resolution of the appellants' claims against the validity of the sales tax election. Plausibly, the Canvassing Board itself could appraise the sales tax election as invalid. Granted, such an outcome would be unlikely with three Leon County public

officials as its members; but there is always the possibility that they could be disqualified in favor of three electors who might have the same view of the City of Tallahassee's and Leon County's conduct in the sales tax election as do the appellants.

Or, plausibly, the appellants could prevail on their claim that the Canvassing Board is estopped due to its dilatory tactics to even attempt a defense of the sales tax referendum. Surely, between the Canvassing Board--which for a year and a half has refused to even attempt a defense of the election notwithstanding its statutory obligations as the "proper party defendant"--and the appellants--who have long and tenaciously sought such a contest--it is the Canvassing Board which must bear the penalty for dilatory conduct.

In the event that a resolution of the merits of the appellants' challenge to the sales tax election is made, it should be--and as a matter of law must be--between them and the Canvassing Board under the substantive principles of <u>Bolden v. Potter</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Boardman V. Esteva</u>, <u>supra</u>, and be litigated under the ordinary rules of civil procedure. Otherwise, under any other concept or procedure, the election contest remedy is subverted and the appellants and the public are deprived of that remedy as a vindication of fundamental rights of a free and self-governing people.

ISSUE II

WHETHER LEON COUNTY HAS STANDING TO AFFIRMATIVELY ESTABLISH THE VALID-ITY OF A DISPUTED ELECTION.

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