IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 77,572

Bond Validation Appeal From The Circuit Court of Leon County, Florida

PEOPLE AGAINST TAX REVENUE MISMANAGEMENT, INC.; DANNY MCDANIEL; JOEL DALAFAVE; and CHARLES SMITH,

Appellants,

v.

COUNTY OF LEON, FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE COUNTY OF LEON, FLORIDA

Herbert W. A. Thiele (FBN 261327) Michael L. Rosen (FBN 243531) County Attorney Leon County Courthouse Room 502 Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-1008

Susan L. Turner (FBN 772097) HOLLAND & KNIGHT Post Office Drawer 810 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 224-7000

Attorneys for Leon County

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

PATRM argues that Leon County did not have standing to litigate the election contest issues, but again runs afoul of the statutory requirement that <u>all</u> factual and legal issues are to be resolved with finality in the bond validation proceeding. Leon County, as the issuer of the Bonds, was required by statute to be the party plaintiff. PATRM raised its election contest allegations as an affirmative defense. Ironically, PATRM

-3-

overlooks the limits to its own standing. It is a private organization, and does not represent the public. The public approved the sales tax and supported validation of the Bonds, but PATRM seeks to disenfranchise the voters and controvert the will of the people. PATRM's attempts are in violation of the fundamental principle that the will of the people must be given effect.

PATRM also argues that published notice of the bond validation hearing was defective for failure to include express notice of the substance of PATRM's challenges. However, PATRM offers no authority that would impose such a requirement. Due process requires the giving of notice and an opportunity to be heard, which are an integral part of Florida's bond validation statute. It is undisputed that Leon County complied fully with the statutory requirements, and thus PATRM has failed to demonstrate reversible error in the notice of the bond validation hearing.

On the merits of its election contest allegations, PATRM attempts to re-argue the sufficiency of its evidence. Such an attempt violates the fundamental principle that the trier of fact is the exclusive arbiter of the weight of the evidence. After hearing the testimony and considering the evidence, the trial court specifically ruled that the sales tax referendum and all other proceedings had in connection with the issuance of the Bonds were free of the irregularities asserted by PATRM. The record reflects competent, substantial evidence in support of the

-4-

trial judge's findings, which are entitled to a presumption of correctness before this Court.

D

Finally, PATRM once again argues that the trial judge and all judges of the Second Judicial Circuit should be disqualified from presiding over the bond validation proceeding. These arguments have already been raised and rejected both by this Court and by the First District. PATRM has failed to demonstrate any basis for revisiting or reversing those decisions.

ARGUMENT

Florida's bond validation statute governs the procedures for conduct of bond validation hearings, and mandates that such a proceeding be tried and final judgment rendered with the "least possible delay." §75.07, Fla. Stat. (1989). The scope of judicial review of a bond validation is limited to the issuer's authority to issue the bonds, the legality of the purpose of the bonds, and compliance with the requirements of law. Risher v. Town of Inglis, 522 So.2d 355, 356 (Fla. 1988). At the hearing, the court is required to decide all questions of law and fact necessary to determine the action and reach a final judgment. §75.07, Fla. Stat. (1989). Of necessity, the court's review extends to the underlying sources of repayment and security for See State v. School Board of Sarasota County, 561 the bonds. So.2d 549 (Fla. 1990).

The public interest in a prompt resolution of a bond validation hearing is likewise an important factor in an election contest:

As to this type litigation there is a public interest in promptness and finality of decision.

<u>Kinzel v. City of North Miami</u>, 212 So.2d 327, 328 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968). Despite the public interest, PATRM has continuously since its post-referendum incorporation filed a series of lawsuits and original appellate proceedings seeking to invalidate the sales tax that the voters of Leon County approved, and seeking through that election challenge to invalidate the Bonds and halt preparations for construction of the new Leon County

-6-

jail. In the course of all its litigation, PATRM has failed to pursue any formal discovery against named defendants, confining its preparation to public records research designed to support its attempts to disqualify every judge residing in Leon County. Every trial court proceeding has been marked by delay and devoid of merit, and the bond validation is no different. PATRM's various arguments are all demonstrably meritless.

ISSUE I

THE FORM AND CONDUCT OF THE BOND VALIDATION PROCEEDING WERE PROPER.

PATRM initially argues that the bond validation procedure followed in this case "fails on two grounds," because "it did not fairly accomodate [sic] the substantial issues of fact at stake," and because the Leon County Canvassing Board was not the party defendant [I.Br. 7]. In essence, PATRM's argument that it should be entitled to litigate its claims in the context of a full-blown election contest proceeding, with the Canvassing Board as the sole defendant, is simply an attempt to have this Court revisit an issue that PATRM has already litigated and lost.

The first of PATRM's numerous proceedings directed against the sales tax referendum was an election contest suit filed in Circuit Court against the Leon County Canvassing Board. After the suit had been pending for eight months, the trial court granted the Canvassing Board's motion for summary judgment, ruling that the Canvassing Board was not the proper party defendant to the suit. Under section 102.168, Florida Statutes (1987), the Canvassing Board would have been a proper party

-7-

defendant to a suit alleging fraud or error in balloting or counting, but because PATRM made no such allegations, the suit was dismissed.² PATRM timely appealed the judgment of dismissal, and the First District affirmed. <u>PATRM v. Leon County Canvassing</u> <u>Board</u>, 573 So.2d 31 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

That appellate decision became final upon denial of PATRM's motion for rehearing on December 18, 1990. The last day to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court has long since passed, and PATRM elected not to seek further review. PATRM is improperly attempting to use this proceeding as a vehicle to circumvent the finality of the adverse judgment and to secure a second appeal before this Court, in which PATRM seeks relief against an entity that is not even a party to these proceedings. Therefore, all of PATRM's arguments suggesting that this bond validation proceeding was defective because PATRM's prior suit against the Canvassing Board failed should be rejected as untimely and not properly a part of this appeal [I.Br. 11-16].

PATRM's remaining argument under Issue I asserts that the bond validation procedure itself was improper because of the lack of any prior notice by the court that the show cause hearing would be the final hearing and trial [I.Br. 9]. Apparently, PATRM contends that it was entitled to merely appear at the hearing and be granted a later hearing date and an intervening

² PATRM then named the City of Tallahassee and Leon County as the defendants, but voluntarily dismissed that suit in open court on the morning it was called for trial [A 5]. By doing so, PATRM itself undermined the public interest in obtaining a prompt and final disposition of the election contest. Kinzel v. City of North Miami, 212 So.2d 327, 328 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968).

delay during which it would ostensibly have better prepared its case. PATRM offers no authority to support its assertion, but simply relies on its conclusory characterization of the hearing as a "summary device." The primary flaw in PATRM's argument, however, is that it seeks judicial relief from its own tactical decisions and lack of preparation.

The conduct of a bond validation hearing is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court. The scope of inquiry extends to all questions of fact that were or might have been placed at issue in the proceeding. Lee v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co., 141 Fla. 545, 194 So. 252, 266 (1940). PATRM's challenge to the legality of the underlying sales tax and the referendum by which it was adopted were directly relevant to the proceedings, were placed at issue in the complaint and in PATRM's answer, and were properly adjudicated. If PATRM had made a showing sufficient to entitle it to a continuance and a later hearing, then the judge could have entered such an order. Rianhard v. Port of Palm Beach District, 186 So.2d 503 (Fla. 1966).

The intervenors in <u>Rianhard</u> raised essentially the same argument that PATRM raises here, except that in <u>Rianhard</u> the hearing was limited to legal issues and no testimony was adduced. Faced with the argument that the trial court had erred, this Court rejected the argument in no uncertain terms:

> At this hearing after raising questions as to the legal sufficiency of the petition, the respondents in effect sought a continuance in order that they might have time thereafter to gather evidence and submit the same at a later hearing. However, there was a duly

> > -9-

published notice in which a particular date was set for the validation hearing. The respondents intervenors were thereby notified as provided by law to be ready to present their objections to the validation including their testimony or other evidence of any. The court offered respondents opportunity to present their evidence but they made no effort then to submit any nor made any proffer whatever.

The record does not disclose the circuit court in any way misled respondents in regard to the matter of subsequently affording them opportunity to present testimony or other evidence.

186 So.2d at 504 (emphasis added). <u>Rianhard</u> is on point and dispositive of PATRM's argument as to the scope of the hearing. See also <u>Risher v. Town of Inglis</u>, 522 So.2d 355, 356 (Fla. 1988) (trial court did not abuse discretion in refusing to continue bond validation hearing to allow intervenors to litigate other issues).

The procedure for validation of bonds is prescribed by Chapter 75, Florida Statutes. The issuing body must file a complaint in circuit court to determine its authority to issue bonds and the legality of all proceedings had in connection with the issue. §75.02, Fla. Stat. After such a complaint is filed, the trial court is required to issue an order directing any interested party "to appear at a designated time and place ... and show cause why the complaint should not be granted and the proceedings and bonds or certificates validated." §75.05, Fla. Stat. Notice is given, and any interested party must appear at or before the hearing.

-10-

The statute provides:

At the hearing the court shall determine all questions of law and fact and make such orders as will enable it to properly try and determine the action and render a final judgment with the least possible delay.

§75.07, Fla. Stat. A judgment validating the bonds becomes final if no appeal is taken or if it is affirmed on appeal, and the finality of the proceeding is absolute:

> [S]uch judgment is <u>forever conclusive</u> as to all matters adjudicated against plaintiff and all parties affected thereby....

§75.09, Fla. Stat. (emphasis added).

The legislative declaration that the judgment will be "forever conclusive" is a clear warning to those interested in a bond validation proceeding. The statute clearly explains that the bond validation hearing is <u>the</u> forum for challenging the bonds, and that the scope of the proceeding extends to <u>all</u> factual and legal issues.

In view of the clear language of the statute, PATRM's argument that notice of the scope and nature of the hearing was somewhat deficient is manifestly untenable. PATRM was on actual notice of the hearing, and had filed an answer and affirmative defenses. The status of PATRM's own preparation was a matter exclusively within its own control, and furnishes no basis for relief before this Court -- particularly in light of the fact that PATRM previously had an opportunity to develop and litigate its election contest claims but voluntarily declined to do so

-11-

when it could not obtain the defendant of its choosing.³ No reversible error has been demonstrated.

ISSUE II

COUNTY HAS STANDING ТО LEON LITIGATE ALL MATTERS WITHIN THE THE BOND SCOPE OF VALIDATION, PATRM'S INCLUDING ELECTION CHALLENGE.

PATRM's second argument is little more than a restatement of its first argument, and fails for the same reasons. PATRM again seeks to resurrect its prior unsuccessful election contest suit by asserting that only the Leon County Canvassing Board has standing to litigate the election contest issues [I.Br. 17, 20-22]. Inherent in PATRM's argument is its assumption that these issues were not properly a part of the bond validation proceeding initiated by Leon County.

The authorities presented in response to PATRM's first argument demonstrate that it was not only proper, but necessary, to adjudicate in the bond validation proceeding all questions of fact and law bearing on the validity of the bonds and the legality of the underlying proceedings. Leon County was designated by statute as the necessary party plaintiff. §75.02, Fla. Stat. (1989). PATRM itself raised the election contest issues in its affirmative defenses, and cannot now be heard to argue that they should not have been considered.

³ PATRM's persistence in attempting to litigate its claims against the Canvassing Board is based on its belief that the Canvassing Board may not defend the election as vigorously as the County. This reasoning renders hollow any claim that PATRM seeks to promote the "will of the people."

PATRM cites ten cases to illustrate the general applicability of standing principles to governmental entities [I.Br. 18-22], but offers no authority that is directly relevant here. Palm Beach County v. Hudspeth, 540 So.2d 147 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), from which PATRM quotes, has no bearing on the question of standing here. In <u>Hudspeth</u>, the plaintiffs sought to enjoin the use of certain ballot language prior to an election, and to recover the costs of allegedly improper expenditures. 540 So.2d The Hudspeth plaintiffs were not attempting an afterat 154. the-fact voiding of a completed referendum. Most significantly in the context of PATRM's argument that Leon County has no standing to litigate the validity of the election, the defendant in Hudspeth was the county government. That fact alone, which is conveniently overlooked by PATRM, contradicts PATRM's argument.

PATRM also asserts that the voters are the real parties in interest [I.Br. 21-22]. It is not clear what point PATRM intends to make through this general statement, but apparently the thrust of the argument is that only the voters can litigate the validity of the referendum. As already noted, however, Leon County is the real party in interest as to the validity of its bond issues, and is required by statute to initiate validating litigation. The statute recognizes the public interest by making the public a party represented by the state attorney.

The public in this case asserted no ground to invalidate the bonds, which gives rise to the second problem with PATRM's argument: PATRM is not the public, and does not represent the interests of the public. PATRM is a collection of

-13-

private individuals asserting their personal views on the election. PATRM is in no position to claim any special status as a representative of the public. To the contrary, the position advanced by PATRM threatens to "mute the public voice," a result that this Court has recognized must be carefully avoided:

> [T]he primary consideration in an election contest is whether the will of the people has been effected.

<u>Boardman v. Esteva</u>, 323 So.2d 259, 269 (Fla. 1976). See also <u>Bolden v. Potter</u>, 452 So.2d 564, 566 (Fla. 1984) (courts should avoid unnecessarily disenfranchising voters, and should not invalidate election unless evidence <u>clearly</u> shows intentional fraud that adversely affects the sanctity of the ballot).

The people will be disenfranchised if PATRM has its way, because PATRM wants to orchestrate a suit against a selected defendant that PATRM believes may not be as vigilant in defending That potential result is the reason why the election results. the election contest statute and the bond validation statute strictly regulate the time for raising challenges to election results and bond validations. **§102.168, Fla. Stat.** (1989) (10 days after adjournment of last canvassing board); §§75.07 and 75.09, Fla. Stat. (bond validation is forever conclusive once PATRM's present challenge actually seeks to defeat the final). will of the people, and is untimely and meritless. The judgment of the trial court in rejecting PATRM's challenge should be affirmed.

-14-

ISSUE III

PUBLICATION OF NOTICE WAS ADEQUATE IN ALL RESPECTS.

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